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9. The Applicant respectfully requests that the Tribunal issue an 

order directing the Respondent to identify three (3) individuals who 

possess the requisite knowledge and experience in relation to the 

process of approving and granting dependency allowances and in the 

UMOJA system. Furthermore, it is requested that the Respondent be 

instructed to promptly apprise this esteemed Tribunal of the prospective 

expert[s]’ availability for testimony. The Tribunal shall then exercise its 

discretion in selecting a qualified expert from amongst these candidates 
to testify on the aforementioned technical matters. 

8. The Respondent responded to the motion and objected to it being granted. The 

Respondent took the position that: 

4. It is neither relevant nor material how the UN human resources 
management tool Umoja works. The crux of the matter is that the 
Applicant applied for a benefit for which she was not entitled due to her 

ineligibility under the applicable rules. Any expert witness on the 

functionality of Umoja would not be suitable for determining the 

Applicant’s eligibility or lack thereof, and consequently for the 
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10. The Tribunal directed the Respondent to “produce a witness with the requisite 

human resources and [Umoja] expertise on dependency benefits, as well as a witness 

with direct knowledge of the processing of the Applicant’s claim for dependency 

benefit” and “the Investigator of the Office of Internal Oversight Services [(“OIOS”)] 

whose report formed the basis of the impugned decision”. Both these witnesses were 

heard on 7 and 8 November 2023. 

11. The parties filed their closing submissions as directed on 19 October 2023. 

Facts and Submissions 

12. The Applicant gave birth to her second child, Yoan Garba, on 28 August 2017. 

The child’s father, Mr. Garba, was at the time of his birth and until 2020, also a staff 

member at MONUSCO. Having never lived with nor married Yoan’s father, the 

Applicant was, for all intents and purposes, a single mother. 

13. The father was formally registered as Yoan’s father at birth, and the birth 

certificate showed as much. As part of the process of registering the birth of a child 

with MONUSCO, the Applicant provided the Mission with the original birth 

certificate. It listed both parents’ names and indicated that they were employed by 

MONUSCO. 

14. The Applicant registered the birth of Yoan on 20 February 2018 and submitted 

her claim for dependency benefits on 22 February 2018. 

15. 
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17. 
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28. The Applicant was notified of the sanction on 16 February 2023 and separated 

on the same day. 

29. It is the Applicant’s case that the facts on which the sanction was based have not 

been established, and that what was established was not tantamount to misconduct 

under the Staff Regulations and Rules. 
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Mr. Garba was the only staff member entitled to apply and receive a 

dependency allowance for his child with the Applicant. The regulatory 

framework does not provide for a “first come, first served” approach 

towards the parents’ applications for dependency benefits. Neither does 
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41. In disciplinary cases, when termination is a possible outcome, it requires 

sufficient proof. UNAT has ruled that the Administration is required to prove the 

alleged misconduct with clear and convincing evidence, which indicates that the truth 
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46. On 28 August 2017, the Applicant gave birth to their son, Yoan Garba. Both 

parents were MONUSCO staff members at the time. The Applicant serves as an 

Associate Judicial Affairs Officer, NO-B grade, at the Justice Support Section of 
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52. As a result, Mr. Garba started receiving dependency benefits for Yoan for the 

period through to 30 June 2020, with retroactive effect from the Yoan’s date of birth. 

53. In September 2019, the Applicant’s relationship with Mr. Garba ended. 

54. On 30 June 2020, Mr. Garba resigned and separated from the Organization. 

55. Until 30 June 2020, both the Applicant and Mr. Garba received concurrent 

dependency benefit payments effective from the date of Yoan Garba’s birth. 

56. Following Mr. Garba’s departure from the Organization, the Applicant became 

the sole recipient of the dependency benefits for Yoan. 

57. On 18 November 2020, the Applicant requested a special dependency allowance 

and a special education grant for Yoan due to language and psychomotor challenges. 

During the review of her application, it was discovered that both the Applicant and 

Mr. Garba had been receiving dependency allowances for Yoan from August 2017 to 

30 June 2020. 

58. On 7 December 2020, the Organization notified the Applicant that overpayments 

had been made to her because only Mr. Garba was entitled to the dependency allowance 

while they were both serving with the Organization. 

59. At the end of December 2020, when processing the Applicant’s December 2020 

salary, the Organization recovered USD2,076.25 from the Applicant, which 

corresponds to the amount of dependency allowance paid to her for the period of 

August 2017 to June 2020. 

60. After examining the case, the Tribunal has confirmed that the facts outlined in 

the preceding paragraphs are mutually accepted by both the Applicant and the 

Respondent. As these facts are not contested by either party, there is no need for 

additional verification or substantiation through evidence from either side. 

Consequently, these facts are officially accepted as established and agreed upon by 
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both the Respondent and the Applicant. Given these admissions regarding the facts that 

led to the disciplinary action taken by the Administration, the Tribunal has confirmed 

the credibility of the facts underpinning the sanction. This determination was made 

without the need for further substantiation or analysis of the case based on the evidence 

provided by the parties. 

61. Therefore, the Tribunal concludes that the facts on which the sanction is based 

have been established. 
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66. As no misrepresentation was made, there was no intention to defraud. The 

elements of fraud were not established by clear and convincing evidence as required in 

Asghar 2020-UNAT-982. There is no evidence to establish that she was untruthful. 

67. The Applicant vehemently denies having violated staff rule 1.2(b), staff 

rules 1.5(a) and 1.7 and secs 1.13 and 1.15 of ST/AI/2018/6 or any other fundamental 

rule. 

The witnesses’ testimonies 

68. The parties called six witnesses to testify at the hearing. Over the course of 

16, 17, and 18 October 2023, the Tribunal conducted the initial hearing of the case. 

During it, the Tribunal examined and cross-examined three witnesses, specifically the 

Applicant, and her two witnesses: Mr. Alain Mabushi, and Mr. Patrick Cyrille Garba. 

69. In November 2023, the Tribunal heard the testimonies of the remaining three 

witnesses. These were Mrs. Esther Ofumbi Luganda, Mr. Paul Simon Harty, and 

Mrs. Nichole Otondi. 

70. 
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72. When she joined the United Nations, she was single and expecting her first child. 

She met Mr. Patrick Cyrille Garba in Lubumbashi, DRC, and they started a 

relationship. She described their relationship as a free and consensual union, but they 

maintained separate residences and never lived together. 

73. In her testimony, she explained that their relationship ended around 

September 2019. By then, their son, born in August 2017, was two years old. Despite 

the relationship with Mr. Garba, she single-parented their child Yoan. 

74. The birth certificate of their son, issued by the hospital as per DRC regulations, 

lists Patrick Cyrille Garba as the father and Marie Rose Bangambila as the mother. At 

the time of their son’s birth, both were working as officers for MONUSCO. Yoan’s 

birth certificate says as much. 

75. Her son has always lived with her and never with Mr. Garba. Mr. Garba provided 

some financial support for their son, but it was irregular. She applied for the 

dependency allowance when she returned to Kinshasa. 

76. She returned to Kinshasa in November 2017, and declared the birth of her child 

in February 2018. When asked why she waited six months to declare the birth of her 

child, she explained that her health condition at the time did not permit her to do so 

earlier. She gave birth in Lubumbashi to be near her family. The birth was challenging, 

requiring a caesarean section. Her child also had health issues and needed resuscitation 

at birth. She requested additional rest time from her supervisor and team to recover. 

77. Regarding the question about her familiarity with the Rules and Regulations of 

the Organization, the Applicant conceded that she w
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78. 
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88. The Applicant emphatically told the Tribunal that she had no intention of flouting 

the Rules and Regulations of the Organization. She simply did not know that she was 

submitting for an entitlement that she did not have. It was only when the investigation 

into her conduct commenced, that she became aware of the provision of ST/AI/2018/6. 

89. Similarly, the Applicant was also not aware of her entitlement to a single parent 

allowance per staff rule 3.6(a)(iii) and sec. 4 of ST/AI/2018/6. She has therefore not 

claimed it in respect of either of her children. 

90. The Respondent asked the Applicant in cross-examination whether custody was 

legally shared with Mr. Garba or whether there was a Court Order granting the 

Applicant sole custody. The Applicant told the Tribunal that Mr. Garba did not have 

legal custody of the child and that there was no Court Order. The decision for her to 

have sole custody and care of Yoan was a mutual one made by the two parents. 

91. The Applicant testified that not only were she and Mr. Garba never married, they 

also never cohabited. Even while they were in a relationship, they rarely ever spent the 

night at each other’s place. Custody was therefore never a subject of any real 

discussion. When she became pregnant, it was a given that she would keep and care 

for the child. She made most of all decisions in respect of Yoan on her own, without 

consulting his father. 

Mr. Alain Mabushi 

92. 
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94. When the Applicant explained her predicament with the Respondent to him, his 

advice to her was for her to simply tell the truth, explain the facts and why she did what 

she did. He knew she had two children and that she was not married but did not know 

anything about the fathers. 

95. He further testified that the Applicant was shocked when she was informed of 

the allegations that she was being accused of entitlement fraud, when she did not know 

that she and Yoan’s father were both being paid the same allowance. 

96. The witness testified that while his relationship with the Applicant was strictly 

professional, he had no doubts about her honesty. 

Mr. Patrick Cyrille Garba 

97. This witness is Yoan Garba’s father. He was, at the time of Yoan’s birth, a 

professional staff member at MONUSCO. At the time he joined MONUSCO he was 

divorced. He worked in Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration and served at 

the P-4 level. He is now a private consultant for the Presidency of the Democratic 
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100. The relationship between the Applicant and the witness ended amicably. They 

occasionally kept in touch with updates about Yoan. 

101. Yoan has never lived with him. He has occasionally visited him and the 

Applicant. There is no Court Order granting him custody of the child and the witness 

has never sought one and does not intend to. As Yoan’s father, national law requires 

his consent before Yoan can travel. That has been the extent of legal formalities 

required of him. The care and custody of the child rests solely with the Applicant. 

102. When he was asked about his submission for dependency allowance in respect 

of Yoan, the witness explained that the Organization’s human resources system was 

migrating to Umoja at the time, and staff members were asked to submit/resubmit and 

update their paperwork on the new digital system. As part of updating his records, he 

submitted Yoan’s birth certificate along with the rest of the documents. A colleague 

from the Regional Service Centre in Entebbe (“RSCE”) helped him with the 

submission. 

103. The witness further explain that this submission took place sometime in 

June 2018 when the situation in the DRC was volatile. He wanted to be sure that all his 

“dependents” were properly listed. He also explained that Yoan is listed in Umoja as 

Cameroonian, because that is what he would be by default as the witness is 

Cameroonian. Although not registered in Cameroon or as Cameroonian, like three of 

the witness’ other children, any child born to a Cameroonian father is considered 

Cameroonian under Cameroonian law. 

104. He concedes that he was confused between submissions for dependency 

allowance and education grant, as he was advised that the UN would pay for the 

education of up to six children. 
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105. The witness described the Applicant as “single” in status. He, on the other hand, 

has a wife and seven children including Yoan. As far as the witness is concerned, there 
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110. The witness told the Tribunal that there is no such thing as an application for the 

child allowance/dependency benefit. He has never had to apply for the benefit for any 

of his other children. Once registered as a dependent, with the requisite original 

documentation, the allowance/benefit is automatically paid. In the case of Yoan, the 

witness presented the document previously submitted by the Applicant and verified by 

Human Resources. You can see on it the name and signature of the Human Resources 

Officer who received and acknowledged it. 

111. The witness stated that the Applicant is far better organized than him, so, at birth, 

she went and registered the birth of their child in Lubumbashi. He only did so when he 

came to Kinshasa after receiving advice from Human Resources and RSCE, that he 

had to update his file, and he did it on the phone with a colleague. 

112. The witness is perplexed as to how this became a disciplinary issue. Nothing in 

the Applicant’s submission was false or untrue, and when the fact of dual payment was 

realized, the Organization promptly recovered all that was paid to the Applicant in 

respect of Yoan. 

113. In response to a question in cross-examination, the witness told the Tribunal that 

he did not assist the Applicant with her registration of Yoan as a dependent. 

114. The witness emphatically insisted that the Applicant and he were neither 

divorced nor legally separated (for the purposes of sec. 1.7 of ST/AI/2018/6) because 

at no point they were married or legally partnered. The Applicant is a single mother, 

and that is how they—as Yoan’s parents—intended it. There was no need for a Court 

Order to this effect because it was never in dispute. She is a single parent. 

115. Umoja, as a system, had no way of ascertaining duplicate claims. The early days 
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116. Human Resources had every evidence that both Yoan’s parents were staff 

members of the United Nations. 

Mrs. Esther Ofumbi Luganda 

117. This witness is a Human Resources Partner (“HR Partner”) at the RSCE. She 

processes transactions in Umoja and has been in human resources in the United Nations 

for seven years. The role of an HR partner, she explained, is to process all transactions 

related to personal administration and entitlements in Umoja, including some aspects 

of time recording and travel. 

118. Regarding the Applicant’s dependency allowance, her role was to approve the 

requests when a new dependent is added to the system in Umoja. She described, as an 

example, how the Applicant submitted her dependency allowance application, walking 

the Tribunal through the process: The Applicant brought the birth certificate to the HR 

Partner in the office of the Chief of Human Resources. They looked at it, she did a 

photocopy, they verified it, and the HR partner signed on the duplicate copy confirming 
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121. The process of submitting or claiming dependency allowance is the same for 

national and international staff. P84 and P85 forms are used for filling the particulars. 
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125. When Human Resources receives an application for a dependency allowance for 

a child, it is its responsibility to check to see if someone is already receiving an 

allowance and to check if the requesting staff member is entitled to it. It is the 

responsibility of Human Resources and the approving HR Partner. She was the 

approving HR partner in the Applicant ’s case. She approved the request because the 

form indicated that the child was living with the staff member. Once the staff member 

checks that box, it certifies that the child is actually living with them. 

126. However, she did not approve Mr. Garba’s information when he submitted the 

request for the dependency allowance. She only handles the National staff. She does 

not know the Human Resources person who handled the International staff in this case. 

As a Human Resources expert, she would say that usually the parent with the higher 

pay grade is entitled to a dependency allowance when both parents are staff members. 

But when divorced or legally separated, sec. 1.7 (of 
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129. In the case of the Applicant, the witness approved her request for dependency 

allowance. She does not know who verified the paperwork at the Mission. Before 

approving, she goes through the request sent through Umoja. She reviews if the staff 

member has filled the forms correctly, the start date, the date of birth, the marital status, 

and if the staff member has checked the correct boxes. She must review that first. 

130.  Then, the witness goes to Umoja to review if the child is not already recorded 

among the staff member’s dependents. But for this case, after reviewing to make sure 

the form is filled correctly, she confirmed that this was not a previously recorded child 

by the Applicant. She goes through the forms that are attached, like the birth certificate 

and the P84 or any other document attached. Then she reviews if it is the correct date 

of birth or the correct names, and if the document was signed and verified by the 

receiving HR Partner/Officer. 

131. The child was entered in a P85 by the father, Mr. Garba. He entered the name of 

the child, Yoan, and his birth date, and the name of the mother. If the child’s mother 

name is not registered as a spouse, you could not know that she is connected with the 

child. For this case, the Applicant applied as a single parent. Unless she declares the 

father is a staff member of the Organization, there is no way for Human Resources 

Officers to know that the child is connected with the father. 

132. Usually, there is a place where the staff member puts remarks in Umoja. 

However, the manual P84 form has no provision for remarks. In this case, the witness 

thinks that the Applicant uploaded the details on her P84 form into Umoja. 

133. The witness acknowledged that the birth certificate in this case clearly listed both 

parents as staff of MONUSCO, and that that document was verified by Human 

Resources in MONUSCO. 
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Resources in the Mission. The witness assumes the Mission first verified the documents 

before any Umoja submission took place. 

138. The witness testified that she was not contacted during the investigation. 

139. The witness also testified that, in principle, the staff
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for adding these remarks. The responsibility of adding these remarks in Umoja lies 

with the staff member. 

Mr. Paul Harty 

143. This witness serves as the Chief of Investigations, OIOS. He is based in Goma, 

in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. He manages an investigation team. Although 

he is currently in Goma, at the time of the events in question, he was based in Uganda 

where his job was to manage and supervise the investigators. 

144. He is familiar with the investigation relating to the Applicant. His role was to 

supervise, offer any advice, and oversee the final report that was written by the 

investigator. The final report of the investigation was issued with his stamp approval 

and then approved by the remaining chain of command of OIOS, as necessary. 

145. The matter was reported to OIOS on 23 November 2020. It went through various 

stages and was formally authorized for investigation on 5 December 2020. 

OIOS received a report of possible misconduct and followed operational procedures 

when investigating the Applicant. 

146. OIOS is supposed to collect facts during an investigation and those facts are 

reflected in the findings of the investigation report. OIOS found that the Applicant had 

a child in August 2017. OIOS found that the father of the child was Mr. Patrick Cyrille 

Garba. OIOS found that Mr. Garba was the staff at a higher rank and salary than the 

Applicant. OIOS found that the Applicant registered the birth of her son on 
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147. During the investigation, the Applicant did not deny that she had submitted the 

dependency benefit application in February 2018. The Applicant did not deny that 

Mr. Garba was at a higher rank and pay than her, nor that they were both being paid 

the benefit in respect of the same child for some months. The Applicant confirmed all 

the material findings of the investigation. 

148. Similarly, Mr. Garba also confirmed all the material findings of the investigation. 

OIOS did not find any evidence to disprove any of its material factual findings. The 

witness told the Tribunal that this investigation was done in compliance with all 

applicable Rules, Regulations and processes, and all factual material findings derived 

from the investigation were confirmed by both the Applicant and Mr. Garba. 

149. The witness testified that he was the supervisor of Mr. Elias Messaike, who led 

the investigation but has since left the Organization. The witness is fluent in French. 

To conduct the interview in French, when interviewing the Applicant and other 

witnesses, Mr. Messaike had had the assistance of two translators who were not part of 

his team of investigators. 

150. When a matter is reported to OIOS, it goes into what they call their intake system, 

and then their Director of Investigations makes a decision on what will happen with 

that report. On this occasion, a decision was made that it will be investigated by OIOS. 

Therefore, it came to his team and he deployed Mr. Messaike. 

151. The conclusion of the investigation is that the Applicant made an application for 

dependency for her son; that she completed form P84 to make that application, and that 

form asks if her spouse is a staff member of the United Nations. She put non-applicable. 

It transpired that her partner was also claiming the dependency allowance at the same 

time and between certain dates; there were dual payments of the allowance, and the 

Applicant did not disclose that her partner, her spouse, was part of the United Nations 

system. The money was retrieved, he thinks, in December 2020 by the United Nations. 
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entitled to claim the allowance. The Applicant should not have made that claim for the 

child. 

152. Regarding how many levels of approval a report drafted by an investigator needs, 

it comes to him and then it goes to, at least, another two layers after him. He reviewed 

the reports. The facts were straightforward. So other than perhaps tidying up the 

English, there were no problematic factual issues. It was mentioned in the investigation 

that both allowances were requested by and paid to the Applicant and Mr. Garba, but 

the investigation only concerned the Applicant. There was also a report prepared on 

Mr. Garba under a separate investigation, but he had left the Organization before the 

process concluded. 

153. The witness testified that he himself receives dependency benefits. He submitted 

his application some time ago when he joined the United Nations and registered his 

dependents. At that time, Umoja was not in use, so he went through Human Resources, 

produced birth certificates, and made declarations. Now, every year, he makes a 

declaration in Umoja regarding his dependents. An HR Partner verified the birth 

certificate. The purpose of this process is for the staff member to declare a dependent 

to the United Nations, which triggers what they call the dependency allowance. He gets 

paid a certain amount each month for each child or dependent he has. 

154. According to the investigator, the P84 form asks various questions about the staff 

member, his/her dependents, and spouse information. One aspect of that is whether the 

spouse is part of the United Nations common system. One of the questions is: “Is your 

spouse a UN common system staff member?” He found the Applicant’s response to 
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155. He does not think OIOS has a definition of a spouse that he is aware of, but it 

would generally mean a partner, perhaps the father of the child, the other half of the 

relationship. He is not aware of there being a legal definition of spouse. He is not 

referring to the legal definition given to the word spouse by the law of Congo, where 

they are living. He is explaining the word spouse in everyday language, in ordinary 

language in terms of making a claim for a dependent child and that is in his view. He 

is, he said, approaching it from an integrity point of view and the question is asking 

about spouse information, the father of the child is a United Nations staff member, so 

his expectation would be that it would be disclosed. 

156. He does not have the document in front of him, but 
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is prior to the birth of the child. The next one was on 26 September 2017, and the third 

one was on 10 October 2017. 

164. Although form P85 filled by Mr. Garba for dependency allowance allocation says 

the child was residing with him, the child was actually residing with the Applicant. The 

witness was cross-examined on the discrepancy between the Applicant’s and 

Mr. Garba’s records, both of which indicate that Yoan lived with them. The witness 

told the Tribunal that he was aware that the child was living with his mother, and 

wondered if the discrepancy is the result of incorrect data entry by the Human 

Resources Officer or Mr. Garba. 

165. Both parties should have declared, as far as the witness is aware, that the other 

was a staff member of the United Nations. According to the witness, the violation 

committed by the Applicant is that she should have declared that the father of the child 

was a United Nations staff member. As part of the fact
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168. The witness was then directed to para. 24 of the investigation report: 

A certified copy of Yoan Garba’s birth certificate was submitted with 

the P.85 form as well as bank records showing child support payments 

made to Ms. Bangambila (footnote omitted). The birth certificate was 

verified by Ms. Beatrice Koli, Human Resources Assistant on 

20 February 2018 (footnote omitted). Ms. Koli told OIOS that she 
believed the Applicant had brought Yoan Garba’s birth certificate to 

have it verified, which was two days prior to [the Applicant] completing 

her P.84 form on 22 February 2018 (footnote omitted). The [Applicant] 

later confirmed this (footnote omitted). A review of the birth certificate 

(in French) revealed that the [Applicant] and Mr. Garba’s “profession” 

were listed as agent MONUSCO or MONUSCO staff (footnote 

omitted). 

169. In the birth certificate, it was recorded that both are “agents” of MONUSCO, 

meaning they are working for MONUSCO. Ms. Koli denied this fact in her email from 

Ms. Koli to Mr. Elias, which the witness read into the record as follows: 

Please note that on birth certificate only names are mentioned, not titles 
or parents’ function. I could not know this information (indiscernible) 

that both parents are MONUSCO staff as you mentioned. I’m in charge 

of national staff, if staff come with certificates, I certify only documents 

based on originals with [Umoja]. It’s the responsibility of staff to enrol 

their dependents (indiscernible) approved by RSCE.10 

170. She stated at the first line that only names are mentioned, not title or parents’ 

functions. This sentence is incorrect. The investigation did not go further to clarify or 

understand more or interview Ms. Koli for this, because the issue was that the 

Applicant did not disclose the spouse information in her P84. 

171. In the witness’ opinion, if the Applicant should declare Mr. Garba as a spouse, 
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determinations with regards to disciplinary matters are made first by the Assistant 

Secretary General for Human Resources and, second, by 
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182. When it comes to the Umoja form, there are guides available for reference by the 

HR office. Umoja was deployed in MONUSCO for both International and Local staff. 

Local staff deployment was on 1 November 2016, and for International staff 
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member” box is not checked, it means that the child does not live with the staff member 

and additional documentation would need to be provided. This falls within the expertise 

of the HR practitioners. 

187. The witness testified that it was not possible for HR to determine if the child had 

previously been enrolled with another staff member. This is because the child is linked 

to the staff member, and there is currently no way for an HR Officer to search using 

the child’s name. 

188. The Applicant filled her form out in the presence of an HR Partner. Despite 

having a relationship with the father of the child she marked herself as single and not 

married; spouse details are marked as not applicable. In this context, the witness 

confirmed that spouse information refers to a marriage or recognized relationship. If 

there is no marriage or recognized relationship, then there is no spouse. 

189. In the form and in Umoja, there is no place or table other than spouse information 

to fill or mention if the father of the child is a staff member or not. There is no field in 

Umoja that contains information about the other parent of the child. This means that 

the child is recorded under the staff member who submitted the claim and is only linked 

to that staff member. 

190. The witness also explained the difference between the P84 and P85 forms. The 

P84 is to claim dependency initially, and the P85 is to declare annually and update 

information. If you are already married, have your spouse mentioned in Umoja, and 

are receiving the dependency allowance for the spouse, then you cannot add another 

spouse in Umoja. Umoja recognizes only one spouse. One can have additional spouses, 

but only one can be recognized as a dependent. So, there is a concept of a non-

recognized spouse, which means a spouse not recognized for the purposes of UN 

entitlements. 
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195. It is possible to declare the birth of a child and not claim a dependency 

entitlement. The child’s information would be visible in the same way. Financial 

dependence would not be checked. Child records are linked directly to the staff member 

they are recorded against or under. Each child record in the system is linked to one staff 

member. If the husband of a staff member submitted a child to be recorded, even if not 

financially dependent, only then would it be recorded under his Umoja record. If he 

never recorded it, you would not see it under his profile. So, the child can only exist in 
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199. The witness also mentioned that there is information provided by Human 

Resources to staff members when submitting applications in Umoja. Umoja has a 

frequently asked questions section related to, for instance: “what is a dependency 

allowance? Whom can I claim? What happens if I am married to another staff 

member?” There is information providing that when a staff member is married to or 

has a child or children with another staff member or a staff member of another 

Organization of the United Nations Common System, only one may claim dependency 

benefits for dependent children emanating from that relationship. The recipient of 

dependency benefits is the spouse having the higher salary level unless the contract 

type is temporary. Either or both spouses may claim dependency benefits for a 

secondary dependent. 

200. The witness clarified that a staff member cannot declare the father of her child in 

Umoja unless he is a spouse. Unless they are married, they do not provide that 

information. She emphasized the need to be clear about the types of family members 

that can be recorded. There is a recognized spouse, which would require a legal 

relationship that is also verified, and there is a non-recognized spouse, but other than 

that, there is no other place to record the person in Umoja. 

201. When staff members provide spouse information in Umoja, they are also required 

to register or upload the supporting documentation as proof of that relationship. For 

instance, they are required to register marriage certificates or any proof in that regard. 

Those would need to be reviewed. These supporting documents must be provided to 

establish a claim for an entitlement. If they failed to provide this evidence, they would 

not get the entitlements. 

202. Any due diligence work in place or other mechanism of review to ensure that 

eligibility to an entitlement is verified before the benefit is paid is the responsibility of 

the HR Partner. When HR Partners receive the information, whether it is through 

Umoja or offline, they would then review it to establish dependency and confirm they 

have all the relevant information as provided by the staff member. 
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203. When a birth certificate is submitted to HR, it is also uploaded into Umoja. If the 
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208. 
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218. Mr. Garba’s testimony also supports the Applicant’s claim. He confirmed that 

they were in a relationship and had a child together but were never married. He also 

stated that he was legally married to another woman during his relationship with the 

Applicant. This further reinforces the argument that the Applicant was correct in not 

declaring Mr. Garba as her spouse. 

219. On the other hand, Mr. Harty’s testimony seems to be based on a personal 

understanding of the term “spouse”, which ignores the legal definition and standard 

practice meaning of the term. His assertion that the Applicant should have declared 
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223. From a legal perspective, the term “spouse” typically refers to a partner in a 

legally recognized marriage. This definition is widely accepted across many 

jurisdictions and is also the standard practice within the United Nations. As 

Mrs. Otondi testified, spouse information pertains to a legally recognized relationship 

or marriage. Without such a relationship, there is no spouse. Furthermore, when staff 

members enter spousal information in Umoja, they are required to upload supporting 

documents as proof of the spousal relationship, such as a marriage certificate. 

224. The Applicant and Mr. Garba were not legally married, and by UN standards, 

she is not considered his spouse. Consequently, she accurately filled out the P84 form 

as “single” marking “N/A” in the spouse information sections, reflecting her legal 

status according to UN practice. 

225. Therefore, the data she entered on the form is accurate and in line with what was 

requested. Any claim that she provided inaccurate information about her marital status 
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228. 
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Officer. If this information is reflected on the birth certificate, HR should be aware of 

it, and HR should act on that. 

233. While Mr. Harty testified that the Applicant failed to inform the Organization 

that the child’s father was a staff member, the investigation report confirmed otherwise. 

The Applicant told the investigator who questioned her that the birth certificate clearly 
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249. The Tribunal can only conclude that the Applicant had indeed informed the 

Organization that Yoan Garba’s father was a United Nations staff member. 

250. The Respondent’s submission that the Applicant should have revealed that the 

child’s father was a staff member of the United Nations is unacceptable. The Applicant 

did not withhold this information. Rather, the systems in place (P.84 form and Umoja) 

did not provide an appropriate avenue for her to disclose it any more than she already 

had. The birth certificate, which clearly states the 
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256. Mr. Harty, the investigator also testified that, there was no evidence proving that 

the Applicant was aware of the fact that Mr. Garba was also receiving dependency 

allowance for their son. 
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 (iv) Staff members claiming a child as a dependant must certify that 

they provide main and continuous support. This certification must be 

supported by documentary evidence under conditions established by 
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272. In the context of United Nations benefits, dependency status pertains to the 

eligibility of a staff member’s family members to receive specific benefits based on 

their relationship with the staff member. In accordance with the applicable rules, 

dependents of staff members include their UN-recognized spouse, dependent children, 

and other eligible family members. 

273. 
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281. In the present case, the Respondent’s argument is that the Applicant received a 
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the child is recognized as a dependent child of both parents based on the child 

dependency status test. 

292. As previously mentioned, the Child Dependency Status test always precedes the 

Child Benefit Eligibility test. In this case, since the child did not reside with Mr. Garba 

and he was not providing continuous support, the child cannot be recognized as a 

dependent child of Mr. Garba. Consequently, Mr. Garba fails to pass the Child 

Dependency Status test and, therefore, he cannot be considered eligible for Child 

Benefit Eligibility, as the Child Dependency Status test always precedes the Child 

Benefit Eligibility test. 

293. Section 1.7 of ST/AI/2018/6, which states that the parent who has legal custody 

of the child will receive the dependency benefit, is not applicable in this case as 

Mr. Garba and the Applicant were not married or legally separated, and no legal 

custody or shared custody was given by an authorized co
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Self-certification 

297. The Respondent stressed in its sanction letter that the Applicant is alleged to have 

engaged in untruthful and dishonest behavior violating sec. 1.13 of ST/AI/2018/6 by 

certifying the accuracy of an otherwise inaccurate form, and by merely submitting the 

dependency benefit claim. As such, the Respondent concluded that the Applicant failed 

to abide by her duty of accurate self-certification, and that she also falsely declared that 

she met the eligibility criteria for the receipt of a dependency benefit, when in fact she 

did not. She is alleged to have provided false information to the Organization. 

298. The Respondent’s argument is that the Applicant was untruthful and provided 

inaccurate information on the P84 form. Despite her spouse being a staff member of 

the UN, she answered “N/A” (not applicable) to the question regarding her spouse’s 

UN employment. The Respondent strongly contends before the Tribunal that the 

Applicant did not fulfill her obligation for accurate self-certification, as she 

intentionally misrepresented her marital status to the Organization to receive a 

dependency allowance for her son to which she was not rightfully entitled. 

299. Furthermore, the Respondent argues that the Applicant was obliged to disclose 

that her child’s father is a UN employee. Given that the father is the higher-earning UN 

staff member, he alone is entitled to request a dependency allowance. The Applicant 

did not inform the Organization at the outset, when first applying for the dependency 

allowance, that the child’s father was also a staff member. She failed to provide 

complete information and did not fulfill her responsibility for self-certification. 

300. Section 1.13 of ST/AI/2018/6 states that: 

The responsibility for self-certification rests with the staff member and 

not with the Organization. Through the self-certification process, the 

staff member shall attest to understanding and meeting the requisite 

eligibility criteria. The staff member shall also attest to the correctness 

of the information provided in the application for dependency benefits 
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304. Similarly, in the section of this judgement dealing with the information about the 

father of the child in the preceding paragraphs, the Tribunal affirmed that the Applicant 

accurately filled out the P84 form. 

305. The Applicant could not disclose information on the status of the child’s father 

as a UN staff member on either the P84 form or in Umoja due to their design. She did 

not withhold this information but was unable to disclose it due to system limitations. 

However, the birth certificate, which the Applicant provided to HR and which HR 

verified and uploaded to Umoja, definitively confirmed that the child’s father was a 

UN staff member. 

306. Hence, the Tribunal affirms that the Respondent’s assertion that the Applicant 

should have disclosed this information and provided incorrect details is unacceptable. 

In this context, there is no evidence to suggest that the Applicant failed to fulfill her 

duty of self-certification as per the applicable rules. 

307. In view of the foregoing, the Tribunal, after an exhaustive examination of the 

detailed arguments, witness testimonies, and other evidence presented, concludes that 

the facts leading to the disciplinary measure against the Applicant do not amount to 

misconduct. The Administration has failed to prove the alleged misconduct with clear 

and convincing evidence. 

308. In light thereof, it is not necessary for the Tribunal to review the third prong of 

the legal test, namely proportionality of the sanction, or the Applicant’s submissions 

on due process irregularities. 

309. The Tribunal affirms that the Applicant has not breached staff regulation 1.2, 

staff rules 1.5(a), 1.7b, and secs. 1.13 and 1.15 of ST/AI/2018/6 and dismisses the 

Respondent’s accusations in this matter. 

310. The Tribunal concludes that the contested decision was, therefore, unlawful. 
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Relief before the Dispute Tribunal 

311. The Statute of the Dispute Tribunal provides in art. 10.5 an exhaustive list of 

remedies. The Dispute Tribunal may only order one or both of the following: 

 (a) Rescission of the contested administrative decision or 

specific performance provided that, where the contested administrative 

decision concerns appointment, promotion or termination, the Dispute 

Tribunal shall also set an amount of compensation that the Respondent 

may elect to pay as an alternative to the rescission of the contested 

administrative decision or specific performance ordered, subject to 

subparagraph (b) of the present paragraph; 

 (b) Compensation for harm, supported by evidence, which 

shall normally not exceed the equivalent of two years’ net base salary 

of the Applicant. The Dispute Tribunal may, however, in exceptional 
cases order the payment of a higher compensation for harm, supported 

by evidence, and shall provide the reasons for that decision. 

312. The Applicant principally seeks the rescission of the co
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amount that the Respondent may elect to pay as an alternative to rescission or specific 

performance. 

315. 
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320. Given the number of layers of scrutiny within the disciplinary process, the 

Tribunal is astonished that this case came to the sorry conclusion that it did. It begs the 

question as to whether the layers of scrutiny and approvals envisaged by the system 

serve to do little more than rubber stamp the various decisions that are made at every 

step of the process. In this case, there really is no other plausible explanation. 

321. OIOS Officials conducted themselves in a manner that can only be described as 

baffling. They did not interview Ms. Koli who first processed the Applicant’s 

documents, did not think it crucial to locate the birth certificate that was submitted to 

Human Resources, and went on to decide that the child’s father was the Applicant’s 

spouse for the purposes of the United Nations based on a poor and colloquial 

understanding of the term and, on that premise, recommended disciplinary action 

against the Applicant. 

322. It is crucial to mention the Tribunal’s observation of the counsel who provided 

patently incorrect legal advice to the Secretary-General in the decision-making process, 

which resulted in the Applicant losing her job. Highlighting this ensures that we 

maintain transparency and accountability in the legal advisory process in a disciplinary 

procedure of the United Nations. The Tribunal particularly wants to highlight the role 

of counsel advising the Secretary-General in making this decision. It is important that 

the counsel advising the Secretary-General is cognizant of their duties in protecting the 

rules of the United Nations system. Legally untenable or duplicitous positions must be 

scrupulously avoided at all times. 

323. Counsel must assist the Secretary-General in achieving the ends of justice. They 

must also help the Secretary-General by providing sound advice to prevent wrong 

decisions, thereby contributing to the fair administration of justice and the promotion 

of the rule of law. 
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324. The Tribunal will here endorse the sentiments expressed in Maiga 

UNDT/2015/048: 

Counsel must realize that in prosecuting a case, they are first and 

foremost officers of the Tribunal and their efforts at all times must be 

directed at laying all their cards face up on the table with a view to 

helping the Tribunal achieve the ends of justice. Counsel at all times 

must be beyond reproach and not place themselves in a position where 

they stand or fall with their clients. 

325. The Tribunal reminds Counsel of the instructive findings of the Appeals Tribunal 

in Dalgaard et al 2015-UNAT-532, where the bench observed that: 

21. Due diligence by the Secretary-General in the presentation of 

his case would have obviated the instant proceedings. […] 

… 

27. [I]t is the self-evident duty of all counsel appearing before the 

Tribunals to contribute to the fair administration of justice and the 

promotion of the rule of law.  Counsel for Dalgaard et al. failed in this 

duty by allowing the Appeals Tribunal to proceed on a factual basis 

which Counsel should have known to be untrue, resulting in an award 

of moral damages to which Dalgaard et al. were not entitled. 

326. Had the Respondent exercised more diligence and circumspection, this case 

would not have had to come this far. 

Conclusion 

327.  In light of the foregoing, the Tribunal DECIDES: 

a. To rescind the contested decision in its entirety; 

b. In respect of compensation in lieu of reinstatement, to set its amount at 

three (3) years’ net base salary; and 
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c. In addition to the compensation awarded to the Applicant, to direct the 

Registry to serve a copy of this judgment on the Secretary-General, the 

Under-Secretary-General, DMSPC, and the Under-Secretary-General, OIOS, to 

draw their attention to the conduct of the staff members under their charge 

involved in the present case. 

(Signed) 

Judge Solomon Areda Waktolla 

Dated this 4th day of September 2024 

Entered in the Register on this 4th day of September 2024 

(Signed) 

Wanda Carter, Registrar, Nairobi 


